No. 97087-4

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

(Court of Appeals No. No. 77365-8-I)

KILO 6 OWNERS ASSOCIATION AND KILO SIX, LLC,

Petitioner,

v.

EVERETT HANGAR LLC,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Harry H. Schneider, Jr., WSBA No. 9404 HSchneider@perkinscoie.com David A. Perez, WSBA No. 43959 DPerez@perkinscoie.com Nitika Arora, WSBA No. 54084 NArora@perkinscoie.com PERKINS COIE LLP 1201 Third Avenue, Suite 4900 Seattle, WA 98101-3099 Telephone: 206.359.8000

Facsimile: 206.359.9000

Attorneys for Petitioner Kilo 6 Owners Association and Kilo Six, LLC

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Kilo 6 Owners Association and Kilo Six, LLC (collectively, "Kilo Six") respectfully ask this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part II of this petition.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Kilo Six seeks review of the decision of the Court of Appeals, Division I, issued on February 5, 2019 (cited as "Op."). A copy of the decision is set forth in the Appendix. The Court of Appeals issued its Order Denying Kilo Six's Motion for Reconsideration on March 19, 2019. A copy of the order is set forth in the Appendix.

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Defendant Everett Hangar has presented and continues to defend two inconsistent theories, in two different cases (both active), in two different courts. In Snohomish County, Everett Hangar successfully argued (and continues to argue) that John Sessions "controls" and exercises "complete dominion" over the Association because he has "two-thirds" of the Association's votes. But in the case below, in King County, Everett Hangar pursued the opposite theory: that Mr. Sessions is not in control because he only has 20% of the vote. Both theories can't be right.

But Everett Hangar has convinced two different courts to adopt two conflicting theories.

Judicial estoppel prevents a party from advancing a theory in one court, after having achieved a contradictory outcome in another court. The Court of Appeals decision creates a conflict in Washington's treatment of judicial estoppel by misapplying the standard in a manner that effectively eliminates the doctrine altogether. Should the Court of Appeals decision stand, it is unlikely that any party will be judicially estopped from pursuing contradictory theories in separate courts, and the interests that judicial estoppel seeks to protect would go by the wayside.

None of this is theoretical or academic. Everett Hangar is defending both cases in separate petitions for review pending before this Court. Accordingly, the issue presented is whether the Court of Appeals and King County Superior Court committed legal error by failing to apply judicial estoppel to prevent Everett Hangar from gaining an unfair advantage by pursuing inconsistent legal theories in two separate courts.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Kilo Six, an LLC owned by John Sessions, and Everett Hangar, an LLC owned by Dean Weidner, are members of the Kilo 6 Owners Association, an entity established to manage three adjacent lots, Lots 11, 12, and 13, at Paine Field Airport ("Paine Field") in Snohomish County.

CP 56 \P 2. Since 2014, Kilo Six and Everett Hangar have had a series of disagreements about the Association's Covenants, Conditions & Restrictions ("CC&Rs") and the resultant voting rights of the Association's members. *Id.* \P 1, 3.

Mr. Weidner controls the middle parcel, Lot 12. CP 2 ¶ 11. The other two, Lots 11 and 13, are controlled by John Sessions and his company Kilo Six, LLC ("Kilo Six"). CP 60 ¶ 20. Lot 11 is occupied by the Historic Flight Foundation ("Historic Flight"), a 501(c)(3) charitable organization Mr. Sessions created in 2003. CP 2 ¶ 10. Historic Flight has a museum on Lot 11 dedicated to the collection, restoration, and public display of the most significant vintage aircraft manufactured between 1927 and 1957. CP 1 ¶ 10; CP 17 ¶ 10. Mr. Sessions set up a separate entity, Historic Hangars, LLC, to operate the museum, and take over the land lease for Lot 11. CP 60 ¶ 21.

Under the June 2008 version of the CC&Rs, the Association "Members" were the "Owners" of any lessee interest under the Land Lease with Snohomish County. CP 58 ¶ 12. Each "Owner" of a "Parcel," defined as the ground leasehold interest in Lots 11 through 13, automatically became Members of the Association. *Id.* Paragraph 3.3 of the June 2008 CC&Rs provided that "[e]ach Member shall have voting rights equal to the Percentage Interest of its Parcel(s)." *Id.* ¶ 13. The

"Percentage Interest" was calculated by dividing the square footage of the parcel by the total square footage of all three lots. *Id.* Exhibit B to the CC&Rs identified Lot 13's Percentage Interest as 46%, Lot 12's as 34%, and Lot 11's as 20%. *Id.*

A. The Snohomish County Proceedings

1. Everett Hangar files suit in Snohomish County, representing to the Court that John Sessions "controls" the votes of the Association and its Board.

In 2014, Everett Hangar sued Kilo Six, the Association, Historic Hangars, and the Historic Flight Foundation in Snohomish County Superior Court for violating its easement rights and other alleged violations of the CC&Rs. CP 62 ¶ 31. At every step of the Snohomish County litigation, Everett Hangar argued that Mr. Sessions "controlled" the Association (both through its Membership votes and its seats on the Board). CP 71 ¶ 65.

First, in its Amended Complaint in Snohomish County, Everett Hangar represented to the trial court that Mr. Sessions "controlled" the Association alleging that Mr. Sessions owns "approximately two-thirds of the Association's voting rights." CP 71 ¶ 65. Then, at summary judgment, Everett Hangar again represented to the Snohomish County Superior Court that Mr. Sessions controlled two-thirds of the voting interest of the

Association. CP 72 ¶ 66. Finally, at trial Everett Hangar made the same representations:

Mr. Sessions, through the various defendant entities he controls, owns and exercises complete domination—complete dominion rather over Lot 11 and Lot 13 and controls the owners association that manages all the lots. That is not in controversy. Documents are set up to give him control over the association, because voting rights are based on the square footage of the leasehold, and the combination of the Lot 11 leasehold, which is the smallest of the three and Lot 13 vacant lot adds up to 66 percent. So he has complete control over the owners association, and that will become significant in a moment.

CP 72 ¶ 67 (emphasis in CP).

2. The Snohomish County Superior Court concludes Mr. Sessions controls the Association.

Everett Hangar persuaded the Snohomish County Superior Court that Mr. Sessions controlled the Association's Membership vote. CP 72 ¶ 68. In finding Mr. Sessions controlled the Association's Membership vote, the Snohomish County Superior Court stated:

Mr. Sessions has the controlling votes on [the Association's] Board, by virtue of the number of shares he holds for Lots 11 and 13. Accordingly, the Court finds that Mr. Sessions is functionally in control of all four organizations

CP 72 ¶ 68.

After agreeing, as a factual matter, with Everett Hangar's theory that John Sessions "controlled" the vote (and thereby decision-making) of the Association, the Snohomish County Superior Court found in favor of Everett Hangar, as a matter of law. CP 62 ¶ 31.

B. The Instant King County Litigation

1. Everett Hangar Argues That John Sessions Does Not Control the Association

Although Everett Hangar succeeded in its claims for violations of the CC&Rs, the Snohomish County Superior Court denied Mr. Weidner's request that he be permitted to build his desired locked gate and fence around Lot 12. *See* CP 62-63 ¶ 32. In his continued pursuit of that fence, Mr. Weidner decided to pursue a new theory: namely, that Mr. Sessions *does not* control the Association. CP 72 ¶ 69.

In December 2015 Everett Hangar requested that the Association conduct an in person meeting to consider Mr. Weidner's proposal to build the perimeter fence around the Lot 12 parking lot. CP 63 ¶ 33. The meeting was scheduled for January 12, 2016. CP 64 ¶ 37. Mr. Sessions exchanged e-mails with Ben Katon, one of Mr. Weidner's employees, who served as Everett Hangar's representative on the Association's Board, about the 2016 budget. CP 63 ¶ 34. Mr. Sessions's proposed budged mirrored all the previous budgets by allocating Base Assessments to all

three Lots based on their percentage interest and allocating other costs between Lots 11 and 12. Id. ¶ 34.

After reviewing Mr. Sessions's proposed budget for 2016, Mr. Katon wrote back on January 11, 2016—the day before the scheduled Association meeting. *Id.* ¶ 35. While Everett Hangar was "fine" with the overall numbers, Mr. Katon explained that Everett Hangar's "only comment" was that it now wanted the Special Assessments previously allocated to Lots 11 and 12 to be allocated to all three lots in the same "percentage allocation as the rest of the expenses." CP 63 ¶ 35; *see also* CP 22 ¶ 18. In effect, Everett Hangar wanted these Special Assessments to be treated as Base Assessments, and to make Lot 13 pay 46% of *all expenses*—even for services that did not benefit Lot 13. CP 63 ¶ 36; *see also* CP 58 ¶ 13. In response, Mr. Sessions expressed his preference to continue the parties' practice of charging only those expenses that benefitted all three Lots as Base Assessments. CP 63 ¶ 36; *see also* CP 58-59 ¶ 14.

The next day, during the Association's meeting, rather than argue that Lot 13 should pay more Base Assessments—which was its position as of the day before—Everett Hangar reversed its position, asserting that Lot 13 should not pay *any* Base Assessments, and that Lot 13 was ineligible to vote on Association matters. CP 64 ¶ 37; CP 4 ¶ 25, 28. According to

Everett Hangar, Lot 13 was not substantially complete under Section 9.1 of the CC&Rs. CP 64 ¶ 37.

A week after the Association's meeting, Kilo Six confirmed that none of the lots had been officially certified as substantially complete. CP 65 ¶ 37-38. Kilo Six then issued a certificate declaring all three lots as substantially complete under Section 9.1 of the CC&Rs. *Id.* ¶ 38. Everett Hangar insisted that the certificate was not effective because Mr. Sessions had not gone through with his original plans to build a hangar on Lot 13. *Id.* ¶ 39.

The Association and Kilo Six (which owns the lease on Lot 13) filed this lawsuit, seeking declaratory judgment that Lot 13 is eligible to vote on Association Matters. CP 1-7. Everett Hangar filed a counterclaim against Kilo Six, alleging that the certification violated the duty of good faith and fair dealing. CP 16-26.

2. The King County Trial and the Court's Order

The case proceeded to a bench trial in July 2017 to determine whether Kilo Six properly certified Lot 13 as substantially complete, and was therefore eligible to vote, pursuant to Section 9.1 of the CC&Rs. CP 55, 64-65. The trial court ruled that Lot 13 is not substantially complete. CP $80 \, \P \, 1\text{-}2$.

Of most import here, the court rejected Kilo Six's argument that Everett Hangar was judicially estopped from arguing that Kilo Six has no right to vote its shares given Everett Hangar's contrary representations to the Snohomish Superior Court. CP 70-71. The court agreed with Kilo Six that "Everett Hangar represented to the [Snohomish County] trial court that Sessions 'controlled' the Association because Sessions had two seats on the Board and held 66% of the membership vote [Lot 11 and Lot 13]." CP 71. The court even acknowledged that "the position Everett Hangar is taking in this case . . . is inconsistent with the position Everett Hangar took in the Snohomish County Lawsuit." CP 72. Nevertheless, because "Kilo Six's voting rights were not in dispute in the Snohomish County Lawsuit," the court concluded that it would allow Everett Hangar to advance a contrary theory in King County. CP 73.

On September 11, 2017 Kilo Six filed a timely notice of appeal.

CP 85.

3. Court of Appeals Opinion

The Court of Appeals issued its decision on February 5, 2019, affirming the trial court's finding that Lot 13 was not substantially complete under Section 9.1 of the CC&Rs and finding that the trial court did not abuse its discretion by declining to apply the equitable doctrine of judicial estoppel to bar Everett Hangar's challenge. Op. at 1. The Court

of Appeals acknowledged that "[s]ubstantial evidence supports the trial court finding that Everett Hangar asserted an inconsistent position in the Snohomish County Litigation." Id. at 7. Nonetheless, The Court of Appeals rejected Kilo Six's argument because "the record does not show that the inconsistency was material to the outcome of the Snohomish County lawsuit or that Kilo Six relied on Everett Hangar's inconsistent position to its detriment." Id. at 8. The Court of Appeals arrived at this conclusion despite noting that "[j]udicial estoppel does not require that the previously accepted position be material to the outcome in the later proceeding." Op. at 8. The Court of Appeals went on to conclude that it was appropriate for the trial court not to apply judicial estoppel because Kilo Six also took a position in the Snohomish County lawsuit inconsistent with their position in the instant litigation. On March 19, 2019 the Court of Appeals summarily denied Kilo Six's Motion for Reconsideration. A-23.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This case meets the criteria of RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4), either of which compels granting review. Judicial estoppel is an equitable doctrine, which protects the integrity of the judicial process, and is a matter of "substantial public interest." RAP 13.4(b)(4). The Court of Appeals' interpretation of judicial estoppel—that whether a litigant can be

estopped, primarily depends on the materiality of his or her inconsistent positions taken—carves a new stream of law, which conflicts with this Court's and the Court of Appeals' interpretation of judicial estoppel.

This case lends itself as the ideal vehicle to correct the course of the Court of Appeals' interpretation of judicial estoppel and bring it in line with long-standing precedent, because (1) at every stage of litigation each court has recognized that the positions taken by Everett Hangar in the Snohomish County litigation and in the King County litigation are diametrically opposite; (2) each court has recognized that Snohomish County Superior court accepted Everett Hangar's first position that Kilo Six "controlled" the Association; and (3) Everett Hangar prevailed in both judicial proceedings, using contradictory legal theories.

A. The Court of Appeals' Interpretation of the Judicial Estoppel Doctrine Conflicts With a Decision of the Supreme Court

The Court of Appeals' decision dramatically changes the law governing judicial estoppel, and expressly conflicts with this Court's well-established authority regarding how judicial estoppel is applied. Should the Court of Appeals' decision stand, it will no longer be clear when the doctrine applies, how it applies, or whether it even matters any more.

Years ago, this Court outlined three core factors to guide a trial court's application of judicial estoppel: (1) whether "a party's later

position" is "clearly inconsistent with its earlier position"; (2) whether "judicial acceptance of an inconsistent position in a later proceeding would create the perception that either the first or the second court was misled"; and (3) "whether the party seeking to assert an inconsistent position would derive an unfair advantage or impose an unfair detriment on the opposing party if not estopped." *Arkison v. Ethan Allen, Inc.*, 160 Wn.2d 535, 539, 160 P.3d 13, 15 (2007). This Court noted that the core factors are not exhaustive and that the trial court may consider additional factors in reaching its determination. *Id.* However, this Court also explicitly found that "[a]cquiescence in the findings of a court is a ground for an equitable estoppel." *Witzel v. Tena*, 48 Wn.2d 628, 632, 295 P.2d 1115, 1118 (1956) (citation omitted).

The trial court and the Court of Appeals both found the Snohomish County Superior Court "acquiesced" to Everett Hangar's inconsistent position that Kilo Six "controlled" the Association. CP 72; Op. at 7. Thus, the Court of Appeals found that the first factor, taking inconsistent positions in two legal proceedings, was met. Op. at 6-7. However, when analyzing the second factor, the Court of Appeals found that the Snohomish County Superior Court's acceptance of Everett Hangar's inconsistent position did not create a perception that either the Snohomish County court or the trial court in this litigation was misled, because that

position was immaterial to the Snohomish County lawsuit and Kilo Six did not rely on Everett Hangar's inconsistent position to its detriment. *Id.* at 7. This Court's precedent makes clear that acquiescence of the findings alone is a ground for equitable estoppel. Washington case law does not support bending the judicial estoppel doctrine with a materiality analysis when that acquiescence is already found. In effect, the Court of Appeals has created a new judicial estoppel test altogether.

Ultimately Everett Hangar advanced a theory in the Snohomish County Superior court inconsistent with the one it advanced in the instant litigation and it is undisputed that the Snohomish County Superior Court accepted that theory. Under this Court's precedent, the court acceptance was sufficient to show it was misled and the second factor was met.

B. The Court of Appeals' Interpretation of the Judicial Estoppel Doctrine Also Conflicts With Another Court of Appeals Decision

The Court of Appeals' opinion also conflicts with the decisions it has published concerning the application of the judicial estoppel doctrine. The Court of Appeals has unequivocally stated that "[j]udicial estoppel is an equitable doctrine that *precludes a party from gaining an advantage by asserting one position in a court proceeding and later seeking an advantage by taking a clearly inconsistent position.*" *Cunningham v.*Reliable Concrete Pumping, Inc., 126 Wn. App. 222, 224–25, 108 P.3d

147, 148 (2005) (emphasis added) (citing *Johnson v. Si–Cor, Inc.*, 107 Wash.App. 902, 906, 28 P.3d 832 (2001); *Hamilton v. State Farm Fire & Casualty Co.*, 270 F.3d 778, 782 (9th Cir.2001)).

The Court of Appeals follows this Court and states that the second judicial estoppel factor asks "whether judicial acceptance of the inconsistent position in the subsequent proceeding creates a perception that either the first or second court was misled." *Harris v. Fortin*, 183 Wn. App. 522, 530, 333 P.3d 556 (2014). In *Harris*, the Court of Appeals reasoned that this factor was met where the prior court "implicitly accepted" a position that is now inconsistent with the litigant's position in a later action. *Id.* Like this Court, the Court of Appeals does not deem it necessary that the previously-accepted position be material to the outcome in the other proceeding.

When the Court of Appeals analyzed the second factor and justified focusing on materiality because "the materiality of the position can affect whether the inconsistency creates the perception that either court was misled," despite finding that that the "Snohomish County Superior Court did, in fact, accept Everett Hangar's inconsistent position," the Court of Appeals also contravened its own long-standing interpretation of the judicial estoppel doctrine. Under *Harris*, the Snohomish court's

acceptance was sufficient to show it was misled and the second factor was met. 183 Wn. App. at 530.

When considering the third judicial estoppel factor, the Court of Appeals reasoned that "not applying judicial estoppel to bar Everett Hangar's claims would not provide either party an unfair advantage or cause either party an unfair detriment." Op. at 10. But that reasoning expressly contradicts the Court of Appeals' previous ruling in *Cunningham*, in which it held that judicial estoppel applies if "a litigant's prior inconsistent position benefited the litigant or was accepted by the court. Either of these two results permits the application of judicial estoppel. Both are not required." *Cunningham*, 126 Wn. App. at 230-31.

As previously discussed, it is undisputed that the Snohomish County Superior Court accepted Everett Hangar's prior inconsistent theory. Therefore, under *Cunningham*, judicial estoppel should have been applied and prevented Everett Hangar from prevailing on a theory incompatible with the one it advanced. 126 Wn. App. at 230-31.

C. The Issue of Judicial Estoppel Raised by this Case Is of Substantial Public Interest That Should Be Determined by this Court

Judicial estoppel is an equitable doctrine of "substantial public importance." RAP 13.4(b)(4). "The purpose of the rule is to protect the integrity of the judicial process." *New Hampshire v. Maine*, 532 U.S.

742, 749, 121 S.Ct. 1808, 149 L.Ed.2d 968 (2001). The doctrine's purpose is also "to preserve respect for judicial proceedings without the necessity of resort to the perjury statutes; to bar as evidence statements by a party which would be contrary to sworn testimony the party has given in prior judicial proceedings; and to avoid inconsistency, duplicity, and . . . waste of time." *Cunningham v. Reliable Concrete Pumping*, Inc., 126 Wn. App. 222, 225, 108 P.3d 147, 148 (2005) (quoting *Seattle–First Nat'l Bank v. Marshall*, 31 Wash.App. 339, 343, 641 P.2d 1194 (1982)).

Review of this decision would provide clarity on a doctrine, which acts a powerful safeguard for judicial integrity. In this case, the Court of Appeals' interpretation of this doctrine has shifted course towards a heavy reliance on materiality, which is unsupported by precedent from this Court and the Court of Appeals.

VI. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Kilo Six requests that the Court grant this petition for review and hold that the Court of Appeals erroneously applied the judicial estoppel doctrine,