FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
5/17/2019 4:33 PM

NO. 97087-4

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(COURT OF APPEALS CASE NO. 77365-8-I)

KILO 6 OWNERS ASSOCIATION AND KILO SIX, LLC,

Petitioners,

v.

EVERETT HANGAR, LLC,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Warren J. Rheaume John A. Goldmark Max B. Hensley DAVIS WRIGHT TREMAINE LLP

920 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3300 Seattle, WA 98104-1610 (206) 622-3150 Phone (206) 757-7700 Fax warrenrheaume@dwt.com johngoldmark@dwt.com maxhensley@dwt.com

Attorneys for Respondent Everett Hangar LLC

###

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT

Nothing about this case warrants Supreme Court review. First, the Court of Appeals' decision follows Supreme Court and Court of Appeals precedent in a straightforward application of the equitable doctrine of judicial estoppel. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2). Second, Division One's unpublished opinion, relying on the specific facts of these parties' unique years-long saga to determine that a trial court did not abuse its discretion, does not come close to invoking "substantial public interest" warranting

Supreme Court review. RAP 13.4(b)(4). Finally, while the Court of Appeals relied on the two factors summarized above to reach the conclusions in its unpublished opinion, other factors properly considered under the equitable doctrine confirms that Judge Andrus did not abuse her discretion in declining to apply judicial estoppel here.

## A. Neither *Arkison* Nor *Cunningham* Commands a Different Result.

Kilo Six's primary ground for further appellate review is its claim that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with the precedents of this Court and the Court of Appeals. Pet. at 10-15 (citing *Arkison v. Ethan Allen, Inc.*, 160 Wn.2d 535, 538-39, 160 P.3d 13 (2007) and *Cunningham v. Reliable Concrete Pumping, Inc.*, 126 Wn. App. 222, 231, 108 P.3d 147 (2005)). The opposite is true: Both the Superior Court and the Court of Appeals applied the very cases cited by Kilo Six, and reached a conclusion well within the mainstream application of this flexible doctrine.

Kilo Six's argument to the contrary rests on a fundamental misapplication of judicial estoppel. It suggests that the court erred by considering whether a prior inconsistent statement was "material" to the outcome of the first litigation. *See* Pet. 12-13 (arguing that "acquiescence of the findings alone is grounds for equitable estoppel"). Thus, Petitioners posit, "judicial estoppel should have been applied." *Id.* at 15.

This argument misses perhaps the most basic fact about the doctrine: It is an "equitable doctrine" to be flexibly applied and the traditional factors "are not an exhaustive formula and additional considerations may guide a court's decision." Arkison, 160 Wn.2d at 538-39 (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). Judicial estoppel "is a rule of procedure based on manifest justice and on a consideration of orderliness, regularity and expedition in litigation." Seattle-First Nat'l Bank v. Marshall, 31 Wn. App. 339, 343, 641 P.2d 1194 (1982) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). Whether Kilo Six is correct that it could show some of the factors necessary to invoke the doctrine is immaterial to the question at hand: Whether, on balance, the circumstances taken as a whole merit the application of judicial estoppel. Rather than the automatic application Kilo Six demands, Washington courts have consistently recognized that "judicial estoppel, an equitable doctrine, is not to be applied inflexibly." *Miller v. Campbell*, 137 Wn. App. 762, 771, 155 P.3d 154 (2007), aff'd in relevant part, 164 Wn.2d 529, 539-45, 192 P.3d 352 (2008); see also Ashmore v. Estate of Duff, 165 Wn.2d 948, 951, 205 P.3d 111 (2009), as amended (June 4, 2009) (recognizing "core factors" alongside other equitable considerations).

A recent decision shows that it is Kilo Six's position—not the decision of the Court of Appeals—which conflicts with Washington law.

In *Haslett v. Planck*, 140 Wn. App. 660, 666-67, 166 P.3d 866 (2007), a litigant conceded its bankruptcy schedules included statements inconsistent with its current positions in litigation, but argued that its later attempts to amend those schedules mitigated that inconsistency. The trial court held the litigant was judicially estopped, believing the case law prevented it from evaluating all aspects of the two suits. *Id.* Division One reversed: "We conclude the trial court abused its discretion, as it erroneously believed it could not consider this [other] relevant factor." *Id.* at 667. That erroneous constraint on consideration of all applicable information is precisely what Kilo Six asks the Court to do here.

No case cited by Kilo Six counsels any other result. It first asserts that *Arkison* supports reversal. Pet. at 10-12. But in *Arkison*, as noted above, this Court identified "three core factors [that] guide a trial court's determination" of whether to apply judicial estoppel, and explicitly instructed courts to use their judgment in determining what other information may be important: "*additional considerations* may guide a court's decision." 160 Wn.2d at 538-39 (emphasis added) (citation & internal quotation marks omitted). Thus, far from conflicting with *Arkison*, the trial court and Court of Appeals—which both applied the core factors alongside other relevant considerations—did what this Court instructed lower courts to do. Kilo Six also asserts that the Court of

Appeals' decision conflicts with *Cunningham*, 126 Wn. App. at 231. But the very statement quoted by Kilo Six disproves that claim, recognizing that meeting the core factors merely "*permits* the application of judicial estoppel." *Id.* (quoted at Pet. at 15) (emphasis added). Nothing suggests that their satisfaction *requires* its application. In fact, Division One recently rejected the same argument Kilo Six makes: "*Cunningham* does not support the proposition that a court necessarily abuses its discretion by weighing the equities and declining to apply judicial estoppel . . . ." *Chonah v. Coastal Villages Pollock, LLC*, 5 Wn. App. 139, 153, 425 P.3d 895 (2018), *review denied*, 192 Wn.2d 1012 (2019).

In sum, *Arkison*, *Cunningham*, and a host of other Washington authority establish that the factors they lay out are a necessary—but not sufficient—precondition for applying judicial estoppel. *See Taylor v. Bell*, 185 Wn. App. 270, 282, 340 P.3d 951 (2014) (collecting cases). The Court of Appeals recognized this and appropriately considered the "core factors" alongside the other relevant considerations. Its finding that Judge Andrus did not abuse her discretion by doing the same is a straightforward application of the very cases cited in the Petition, and should not be disturbed. Review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2).

#### B. The Decision Is Not of Substantial Public Interest.

In the alternative, Kilo Six asserts that judicial estoppel "protects

the integrity of the judicial process and is a matter of substantial public interest." Pet. at 10 (citation & internal quotation marks omitted); *see also id.* at 15-16. But it makes no argument as to why *this case* meets that test. Kilo Six appears to believe that any case applying a legal doctrine must be of substantial public importance. That is not the law. Instead, Kilo Six must show that the particular opinion it seeks reviewed merits examination by the Supreme Court. It has not.

This Court has made clear the limited circumstances that satisfy the public interest prong of Rule 13.4(b). For example, where a decision of the Court of Appeals "has the potential to affect a number of proceedings in the lower courts [it] may warrant review as an issue of substantial public interest if review will avoid unnecessary litigation and confusion on a common issue." *In re Flippo*, 185 Wn.2d 1032, 1032, 380 P.3d 413 (2016) (review proper where "numerous now-pending" suits are based on appellate decision). Similarly, in *State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574, 122 P.3d 903 (2005), this Court granted review because the publication of the Court of Appeals' opinion "has the potential to affect every sentencing proceeding in Pierce County." *Id.* at 577; *see also Matter of Arnold*, 189 Wn.2d 1023, 408 P.3d 1091 (2017) (three published opinions with "likely incorrect holdings" are of substantial public interest).

Kilo Six cannot show how a similar result would be reached here.

It contends that the Court of Appeals decision "carves a new stream of law" and "has shifted course" from prior precedent, *see* Pet. at 11, 16, but offers no explanation of how that could occur. The decision Kilo Six seeks to have reviewed was unpublished, and thus "ha[s] no precedential value and [is] not binding on any court," and courts "should not, unless necessary for a reasoned decision, cite or discuss" it in any future decision. GR 14.1(a), (c). What's more, the decision did not purport to set forth a rule of law. Instead, consistent with the applicable standard of review, the Court of Appeals found the trial court had not abused its discretion, under the particular factual circumstances of this litigation. *Kilo 6 Owners Ass'n*, 2019 WL 451376, at \*2 (recognizing that, to reverse, the trial court's order would have to be based on "untenable grounds or reasons").

This decision is thus like the main run of appellate decisions that do not warrant this Court's review. Where a trial court simply applies a flexible doctrine to the unique facts before it, reaching a conclusion comfortably within the bounds of precedent, no substantial public interest is implicated. *See, e.g., Matter of Sanchez*, 189 Wn.2d 1023, 1023, 408 P.3d 1089 (2017); *In re Dependency of Bryant*, 163 Wn.2d 1032, 2007 WL 5273745, at \*1-2 (2007) (where "the Court of Appeals opinion ... extensively analyzed the issue" its opinion does not involve "an issue of substantial public interest"). RAP 13.4(b)(4) does not justify review.

# A. This Case Is Particularly Unsuited for Further Appellate Review.

Finally, Kilo Six asserts its Petition is "the ideal vehicle" to consider re-defining judicial estoppel. Pet. at 11. This could not be less true. As may be expected where a decision applying an equitable doctrine to facts arising from a five-year-long dispute that spawned two trials and four appellate decisions, there are many additional factors upon which the Court of Appeals could have relied which would have supported the same outcome. *See LaMon v. Butler*, 112 Wn.2d 193, 200-01, 770 P. 2d 1027 (1989) ("an appellate court can sustain the trial court's judgment upon any theory established by the pleadings and supported by the proof").

First, as the Superior Court and Court of Appeals recognized, Kilo Six took positions in the Snohomish County litigation inconsistent with its arguments in the King County trial. In Snohomish County, "the parties did not contest that lot 13 remained undeveloped and 'vacant." *Kilo 6 Owners Ass'n*, 2019 WL 451376, at \*4 (footnote omitted). Based on that position, Sessions sought to avoid payments his entities would otherwise owe for shared maintenance. *Id.* Despite these actions, "just 10 days after [Sessions'] e-mail exchange, and after Everett Hangar asserted that lot 13 was ineligible to vote on Association matters because Kilo Six had not certified lot 13 as substantially complete, Kilo Six certified lot 13 as

substantially complete." *Id.* Kilo Six cannot now claim that the parties' reversal caused it any "unfair detriment." *Id.* 

But that is not all. In this very litigation, Kilo Six took a position diametrically opposed to the position it asserts in this Petition. See 14A Wash. Prac., Civil Procedure § 35:59 (3d ed. Nov. 2018 Update) (judicial estoppel also "prevent[s] taking inconsistent positions at successive stages in the [same] case"). In this Petition, it seeks the opportunity to show that the Snohomish County litigation resolved the question of whether Kilo Six's development of its leasehold was substantially complete, thereby granting it voting rights in the Association Membership. But when it wanted to avoid the transfer of this case to the Snohomish County court where it had lost at trial—Kilo Six took the opposite position, arguing that the Snohomish trial "had nothing to do with the parties' voting rights in the Association." EX 598 at 2-3; see also Supp. CP 132 ¶ 2; RP 7/18/2017 (P.M.) 68:3-21; RP 7/24/2017 (A.M.) 335:11-15, 339:2-340:8. Kilo Six prevailed, and Everett Hangar's motion was denied. Supp. CP 150-52. If any party is subject to judicial estoppel, it should be Kilo Six.

Third, Everett Hangar does not concede that the positions it took in these actions were sufficiently "diametrically opposed" to apply judicial estoppel. *Seattle-First Nat. Bank*, 31 Wn. App. at 344 (no estoppel despite assertion of two different values for an asset in two different proceedings).

Kilo Six's argument conveniently conflates two different voting bodies of the Association—the Board and the Membership. In the Snohomish suit, Everett Hangar asserted that Kilo Six controlled the *Board* of the Owners' Association, as that was the entity which had the power to take the actions Everett Hangar sought in that suit. See EX 194 at 8-9 ("Mr. Sessions has the controlling votes *on its Board*") (emphasis added); *id.* at 26-27 ("Sessions exercises control of the votes ... of a majority of the entities that comprise *the Board*.") (emphasis added). To the extent that Everett Hangar described Sessions' power over the *Membership*, that was nothing more than an accurate description of how he acted at the time (though it was later revealed he lacked the legal right to do so). Save Columbia CU Comm. v. Columbia Cmty. Credit Union, 134 Wn. App. 175, 185-86, 139 P.3d 386 (2006) (allegation that "board members are in fact serving" is not inconsistent with legal challenge to whether "board members are properly serving"). Moreover, as noted above, voting rights were not at issue in the Snohomish litigation, and thus any inconsistencies are not material.

*Kellar v. Estate of Kellar*, 172 Wn. App. 562, 582, 291 P.3d 906 (2012).

Finally, Kilo Six's argument would not serve the interests of judicial integrity, but rather undermine them. "[T]he doctrine of judicial estoppel protects the integrity of the judicial process, not the interest of a defendant attempting to avoid liability." *Miller v. Campbell*, 164 Wn.2d

529, 544, 192 P.3d 352 (2008) (judicial estoppel "is not meant to be a technical defense for litigants seeking to derail ... meritorious claims") (citation & internal quotation marks omitted). Judge Andrus found Kilo Six's certification of substantial completion was false, and that Kilo Six violated the duty of good faith in making such a certification. Kilo 6 Owners Ass'n, 2019 WL 451376, at \*4-9. The Court of Appeals affirmed these conclusions. Id. at \*9. And Kilo Six has not sought review of them. Thus, Kilo Six is arguing its admitted breach should be ignored, and its false certification of substantial completion should be blessed by judicial fiat. Judicial estoppel is not a tactical litigation tool to "create a windfall" at the expense of a party who prevailed on the facts and the law at trial. Bartley-Williams v. Kendall, 134 Wn. App. 95, 102, 138 P.3d 1103 (2006); Gosney v. Fireman's Fund Ins. Co., 3 Wn. App. 2d 828, 884, 419 P.3d 447 (2018), review denied, 191 Wn.2d 1017 (2018). "Such a result would bestow a valuable benefit to [Kilo Six] while doing nothing to advance the integrity of the judicial process." *Chonah*, 5 Wn. App. at 150.

#### V. CONCLUSION

The Court should deny the Petition for Discretionary Review, and award Everett Hangar its fees and costs.<sup>2</sup>

-

20

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Pursuant to RAP 18.1, Everett Hangar asks that this Court award it attorneys' fees and costs for the appeal, as provided for in Section 4.2 of the CC&Rs. EX 546 at 11.